THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY
Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge

Common Pleas No. 2020-CP-32-01941

Joseph R. Dawson, Jr., Appellant,

v.

Heather Pounds, Individually, as Agent Under Power of Attorney, and as Personal Representative
of the Estate of Jane Rollins Dawson, Respondent.

Appellate Case No. 2024-001801

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Adam Sinclair Ruffin
SC Bar No. 101350
1320 Main Street, Suite 300
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 470-5629
adam@ruffinappeals.com

Gregory E. Parker, Jr.
SC Bar No. 101328
PO Box 584
Columbia, SC 29202
(803) 768-4800
greg@parkerlaw.com

Attorneys for Joseph R. Dawson, Jr.

RECEIVED

May 16 2025

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

1.

Whether the circuit court erred in finding that the will was validly executed?

2.

Whether the circuit court erred in finding that the will and the addition of Mrs. Pounds as a joint owner of Jane's bank accounts were not the product of undue influence?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an appeal from an order upholding the validity of a will.

The Plaintiff, Joseph R. Dawson, Jr. (Mr. Dawson), was the only surviving child of the Decedent, Jane Dawson (Jane). The Defendant, Heather Pounds, was Jane's step-granddaughter.

Jane died on March 16, 2020. On March 17, Mrs. Pounds filed a purported will along with a petition for her appointment as personal representative of Jane's estate with the Lexington County Probate Court. R. 23. Mr. Dawson filed a summons and petition challenging the validity of the will. The probate court ordered the case be removed to circuit court. R. 21. Mrs. Pounds filed an answer and counterclaim. R. 39.

The case proceeded to a bench trial before the Honorable Walton J. McLeod on April 10 – 11, 2024. Mr. Dawson was represented by Greg Parker and Mrs. Pounds was represented by Lourie Salley. R. 71. The court upheld the validity of the will and denied Mr. Dawson's motion to reconsider. R. 1-14.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The standard of review applicable to cases originating in the probate court is controlled by whether the underlying cause of action is at law or in equity.” *In re Estate of Paradeses*, 426 S.C. 388, 391, 826 S.E.2d 871, 873 (Ct. App. 2019). “An action to contest a will is an action at law.” *In re Estate of Pallister*, 363 S.C. 437, 447, 611 S.E.2d 250, 256 (2005).

“If the proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, the [appellate] court may not disturb the probate court’s findings of fact unless a review of the record discloses there is no evidence to support them.” *In re Howard*, 315 S.C. 356, 361, 434 S.E.2d 254, 257 (1993); *In re Estate of Weeks*, 329 S.C. 251, 261, 495 S.E.2d 454, 460 (Ct. App. 1997). “If a proceeding in the probate court is in the nature of an action at law, review by this court extends merely to the correction of legal errors.” *Paradeses*, 426 S.C. at 391, 826 S.E.2d at 873. However, questions of statutory construction that require an interpretation of the Probate Code are questions of law that this Court reviews de novo. *In re Estate of Brown*, 427 S.C. 138, 141, 828 S.E.2d 789, 790 (Ct. App. 2019).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Mr. Dawson was the son of Jane and Joe Dawson, Sr. He had one brother, John. Their family lived in Lexington County. Joe Dawson, Sr., passed away in 2006 and John passed away in 2007. R. 199, ll. 10 – 20. John left behind three biological children, and one step-child—Heather Pounds. R. 86, l. 21 – 88, l. 6. John started dating Mrs. Pounds’ mother while she was pregnant with her, and they married when Mrs. Pounds was approximately five years old. R. 135, ll. 18 – 24. Although Mrs. Pounds was technically a stepchild, she was viewed by everyone as part of the Dawson family. R. 200, l. 15 – 201, l. 11.

Mr. Dawson had a close relationship with both of his parents. R. 202, ll. 1 – 6. His career took him to North Carolina and Tennessee for periods of time, but he moved back to South Carolina after his father died in 2006. R. 202, ll. 15 – 24. When Joe, Sr., died, Jane hired Lester Bates to handle the probate process. R. 205, l. 19 – 206, l. 14. Mr. Dawson believed that both of his parents had wills prepared by Attorney Bates. R. 206, ll. 15 – 21.

When Joe Sr. passed away, Mr. Dawson recalled that his mother “couldn’t really take care of herself” so he moved back to South Carolina and started helping her with her finances. R. 206, l. 22 – 207, l. 6. He helped his mother move her retirement money into safer investments to protect its value from the volatility of the market. R. 207, ll. 6 – 17. Mr. Dawson and his wife Jennifer had Sunday dinner with Jane every Sunday after they moved back to South Carolina. R. 185, ll. 9 – 23. In addition to Sunday dinners, Mr. Dawson and Jennifer would go over to Jane’s house frequently to help clean the house and do yard work. R. 190, ll. 8 – 16.

Mr. Dawson’s uncle Paul died in 2011 and left his entire estate to Jane. Paul designated Jane to be his primary personal representative and Mr. Dawson was designated as the alternate. R. 230, ll. 15 – 23. Because administering the will was going to require multiple trips to Delaware

which Jane was unable to do, Mr. Dawson served as the PR for Paul's estate. R. 208, l. 2 – 209, l. 13. Paul's estate included a significant number of U.S. Treasury Bonds. Mr. Dawson explained that his uncle began purchasing bonds for him and John when they were born for their education, but they didn't end up needing them for that purpose. R. 210, l. 18 – 211, l. 19.

Many of the bonds were already mature and could not be transferred, so Mr. Dawson and Jane cashed those bonds in. The remaining bonds were transferred to be jointly owned by Mr. Dawson and Jane. This process took them weeks to complete. R. 186, l. 2 – 188, l. 7. These bonds were placed into a safety deposit box with First Citizens Bank in Lexington. R. 217, ll. 5 – 10. Mr. Dawson had a bond report issued once a year which would identify the bonds that had fully matured, and he and Jane would cash those bonds. R. 217, l. 16 – 218, l. 16; R. 376.

In April of 2019, Jane had a bad fall in her driveway which resulted in a brief hospitalization. R. 100, l. 5 – 101, l. 15; R. 244, l. 15 – 245, l. 4. Just a few days later, Jane signed a general power of attorney and a health care power of attorney naming Mrs. Pounds as her agent. R. 102, l. 1 – 103, l. 9; R. 369-377. Mrs. Pounds' aunt, Donna McLees, helped prepare the powers of attorney and notarized them. R. 103, l. 19 – 104, l. 19. Paragraph eleven of the general power of attorney explicitly prohibited Mrs. Pounds from gifting any of Jane's assets to herself. R. 104, l. 24 – 106, l. 2; R. 369.

Donna McLees testified that Jane told her she wanted to update her will to prevent Mr. Dawson from inheriting the bonds and that Donna offered to help Jane prepare a will and notarize it for her. R. 266, l. 1 – 267, l. 6. Donna claimed that she helped Jane prepare a will in April of 2019. R. 268, l. 20 – 269, l. 3. The April will was never filed with the probate court or the circuit court but was disclosed in discovery approximately two-and-a-half years after this litigation began. It was introduced as a Defense Exhibit at trial. R. 323, ll. 16 – 24; R. 379.

In preparing the April will, Donna got two of her co-workers at the South Carolina Department of Social Services to sign as witnesses and then Donna notarized it. R. 267, l. 20 – 268, l. 10. Donna explained that she wanted to help Jane draft her will so that Jane could avoid having to pay for a lawyer. R. 272, ll. 9 – 14. Donna further admitted that she advised Jane that she would need to also sign general and medical powers of attorney. R. 272, l. 15 – 273, l. 6. Donna said that she advised Jane that the powers of attorney were necessary to protect Jane’s assets from Mr. Dawson. R. 273, ll. 7 – 13. Donna obtained a sample will online, drafted it, and had Jane come to her office at DSS to sign along with two other DSS employees while at work. R. 273, l. 14 – 274, l. 11. Donna admitted to having prepared wills for more than five different people by using an online template because “[i]t’s cheaper.” R. 274, ll. 12 – 23. Donna testified that she was not involved in the preparation of the July will. R. 271, ll. 3 – 6.

Mr. Dawson wasn’t notified of Jane’s fall or hospitalization until after she got home which caused him to become concerned. He went to a lawyer and found out about the powers of attorney naming Mrs. Pounds as Jane’s agent. R. 220, l. 14 – 221, l. 10. Mr. Dawson was informed by his lawyer that the powers of attorney could give Mrs. Pounds the ability to take the bonds from the safety deposit box, so he took the savings bonds out to protect them. R. 221, ll. 11 – 18. Upon opening the safety deposit box, he discovered that several of the bonds had already been removed. Mr. Dawson also discovered that the joint bank accounts he had with Jane had been completely drained and closed out. R. 221, l. 18 – 222, l. 4.

Mr. Dawson contacted his mother to ask her about her giving power of attorney to Mrs. Pounds. In response, he received a text message from Jane’s phone number which claimed she had hired a lawyer and would have her lawyer contact him about the situation. However, Mr. Dawson was never contacted by any lawyer about it. R. 222, l. 15 – 223, l. 6. Mr. Dawson suspected that

the text was not sent by Jane because the way it was worded was not typical of her. R. 223, l. 7 – 224, l. 22. Jane also stopped returning Mr. Dawson’s calls. R. 224, ll. 8 – 11. Mr. Dawson was threatened by Mrs. Pounds on Facebook when she posted that Gary Hutto, her biological father, was getting out of prison soon and would “take care of him.” Mr. Dawson reported the post to Lexington County Sheriff’s Department. R. 245, l. 23 – 246, l. 11; R. 254, ll. 2 – 9; R. 378.

Jane was eighty-one years old when she died and had cardiomyopathy and a defibrillator. Jane died because “her heart just stopped.” R. 158, ll. 4 – 13. Mr. Dawson didn’t learn that his mother had died until two days later after one of his cousins saw a post on Facebook about it. R. 225, ll. 12 – 21. Mr. Dawson started trying to find where his mother’s body was and began calling different funeral homes. He spoke with someone at Barr-Price Funeral Home in Lexington who said they had been trying to reach him for two days. R. 226, ll. 13 – 20. After speaking to the funeral home, Mr. Dawson went and saw his attorney who had prepared his will and that is when he discovered that a purported will had been filed by Mrs. Pounds with the probate court. Mr. Dawson was shocked to see that all of Jane’s grandchildren and great-grandchildren had been eliminated from the will. R. 227, l. 17 – 228, l. 8.

At the time Jane died, she owned a house, two vehicles, a life insurance policy, two bank accounts jointly owned with Mrs. Pounds, and the bonds that were owned jointly with Mr. Dawson. R. 88, l. 23 – 90, l. 24. The house was owned solely by Jane. R. 91, ll. 6 – 13. The will filed by Mrs. Pounds in probate court left nearly Jane’s entire estate to her. The only thing left to Mr. Dawson was “the old tools and anything that is his at the house.” R. 113, ll. 2 – 24; R. 361.

The house was deeded to Mrs. Pounds approximately two weeks after Jane’s death. R. 91, ll. 14 – 24; R. 384. This deed was later voided by the circuit court as part of this lawsuit and transferred back into the estate. R. 18; R. 92, ll. 12 – 17.

Mrs. Pounds was added as a joint owner of Jane's bank accounts with First Citizens in May and June of 2019. R. 94, ll. 7 – 15; R. 366-367. The assets in these two bank accounts were also ordered to be frozen by the circuit court as part of this lawsuit. R. 18; R. 96, l. 25 – 97, l. 3. Mrs. Pounds transferred more than \$200,000 out of these joint accounts and into her personal bank account. R. 121, l. 14 – 122, l. 19; R. 123, l. 5 – 124, l. 15. Mrs. Pounds testified at trial that all but \$15,000 of that money was now gone. R. 124, l. 16 – 128, l. 16.

ARGUMENT

1.

The circuit court erred in finding that the will was validly executed.

Relevant Facts

One of the signatories on the will was Hampton Ellis. R. 364. Ellis testified that he had been Jane's next-door neighbor for sixteen or seventeen years. R. 79, ll. 9 – 21. Ellis acknowledged that his signature was on the will. R. 82, ll. 4 – 12. He said that on the day that he signed the will, someone came out of Jane's house and asked him to come over to sign something. R. 84, l. 17 – 85, l. 2. He recalled that Jane was present and two other people that he did not know. R. 82, ll. 14 – 22. Ellis had "no clue" what he was signing, and he did not witness Jane sign. He further testified that Jane did not acknowledge her signature to him in any way. R. 83, ll. 2 – 8. The only page Ellis saw was the signature page, and he was only fifteen years old at the time. R. 83, ll. 17 – 25.

At the close of the evidence, Counsel for Mr. Dawson argued that Hampton Ellis was not competent to witness the will because he was a minor. R. 320, l. 4 – 321, l. 5. Counsel further explained that Ellis testified that he did not review the document and that no one had explained to him what it was. Ellis did not even know that he was signing a will. Counsel further argued that Ellis admitted that he had not witnessed Jane sign the will and that she did not attest to her signature in his presence. R. 321, l. 6 – 323, l. 1. Counsel for Mrs. Pounds responded that Ellis' testimony was that he didn't remember whether he saw Jane sign or attest to her signature. R. 323, ll. 6 – 15.

In its final order upholding the validity of the will, the circuit court did not address the argument that Hampton Ellis was not competent as a witness to the will. Final Order. Counsel filed a motion to reconsider specifically pointing out that the circuit court had not ruled on that

argument. R. 55. The circuit court again did not rule on that issue in its order denying the motion to reconsider. R. 12.

In its final order, the circuit court acknowledged that Ellis testified that he did not witness Jane sign the will. However, the court incorrectly found that Ellis “could not recall whether [Jane] expressly indicated she had signed the paperwork.” R. 4-5. Based on this, the circuit court found that Ellis’ “inability to expressly recall the details of the signing of the [will] . . . is alone not enough to invalidate the will.” R. 5. The court further noted that the will having been notarized established a presumption that the signatures were authentic. *Id.*

Counsel for Mr. Dawson argued in his motion to reconsider that the circuit court was incorrect in its recollection of Ellis’ testimony. Specifically, Counsel pointed out that Ellis had testified that Jane did not acknowledge her signature in his presence. R. 55. Counsel further indicated that he had ordered the transcript of Ellis’ testimony to verify whose recollection was correct. *Id.*, n.1. The circuit court subsequently issued an order holding the motion in abeyance until the transcript was produced. R. 15.

Mrs. Pounds, through new Counsel Shelby Leonardi, filed a response to Mr. Dawson’s motion to reconsider along with a motion to expedite the ruling. Counsel cited to an unpublished decision by this Court in arguing that even if Ellis’ signature did not comply with the witness requirements for wills, the will was still valid because the notary could serve as the second witness. R. 66-67. On that basis, Counsel argued that the trial transcript was unnecessary to the resolution of the post-trial motions because the will was valid even without Ellis’ signature. R. 60.

The circuit court denied the motion to reconsider. R. 12.

A. Hampton Ellis was not competent to sign the will because he was a minor and did not know what he was signing.

As an initial matter, despite the circuit court not specifically ruling on this argument, upholding the validity of the will was at least an implicit rejection of this argument. Furthermore, once an issue has been raised to a trial judge at trial, and in a Rule 59(e) motion, and the trial judge has refused to rule both times, the appealing party need not file a second Rule 59(e) motion to preserve the issue. *See Coward Hund Constr. Co. v. Ball Corp.*, 336 S.C. 1, 4, 518 S.E.2d 56, 58 (Ct. App. 1999) (“Once the issue has been properly raised by a Rule 59(e) motion, it appears that it is preserved and a second motion is not required if the trial court does not specifically rule on the issue so raised”).

South Carolina explicitly prohibits minors from making wills. Section 62-2-501 of the South Carolina Code provides that “An individual who is of sound mind and who is not a minor as defined in Section 62-1-201(27) may make a will.” Section 62-1-201(27) defines “minor” as “a person who is under eighteen years of age, excluding a person under the age of eighteen who is married or emancipated as decreed by the family court.” Without question then, Hampton Ellis did not have the capacity to make a will.

Whether a witness to a will can be a minor appears to be a novel question in South Carolina. Section 62-2-502(3) of the Probate Code provides that a will must be “signed by at least two individuals.” Although South Carolina does not explicitly prohibit minors from witnessing wills, it is but a small logical extension of the prohibition on minors making wills to say that minors cannot witness wills.

“If a statute is ambiguous, the court must construe its terms in accordance with the rules of statutory construction.” *McInnis v. Estate of McInnis*, 348 S.C. 585, 592, 560 S.E.2d 632, 636 (Ct. App. 2002). “The cardinal rule of statutory interpretation is to determine the intent of the

legislature.” *Univ. of S. Cal. v. Moran*, 365 S.C. 270, 275, 617 S.E.2d 135, 138 (Ct. App. 2005). “The legislature’s intent should be ascertained primarily from the plain language of the statute.” *Id.* at 276, 617 S.E.2d at 138. A statute’s language “must also be read in a sense which harmonizes with its subject matter and accords with its general purpose.” *Id.*

“When faced with an undefined statutory term, the court must interpret the term in accord with its usual and customary meaning.” *Id.* at 277, 617 S.E.2d at 139. However, courts must “reject a statutory interpretation which would lead to a result so plainly absurd that it could not have been intended by the legislature or would defeat the plain legislative intention.” *Id.* at 278, 617 S.E.2d at 139. And finally, our appellate courts “should not consider a particular clause in a statute as being construed in isolation, but should read it in conjunction with the purpose of the whole statute and the policy of the law.” *Id.*

The statute here uses the word “individuals” but in context this could have more than one meaning. Two of the primary purposes of the Probate Code are to “simplify and clarify the law concerning the affairs of decedents, . . . minors, and incapacitated persons,” and “to promote a speedy and efficient system for liquidating the estate of the decedent and making distribution to his successors.” S.C. Code § 62-1-102(b)(1) & (3). The word “individual” is not defined by the Code, but “person” is defined to mean “an individual.” S.C. Code § 62-1-201(32).

While the word person or individual might literally be construed to mean any human being, in light of the broader purpose of the Probate Code, such a reading would lead to absurd results. For instance, “incapacitated individual” is defined as a “an individual who, for reasons other than minority, has been adjudicated as incapacitated.” S.C. Code § 62-5-101(12). If this Court were to adopt a literal reading of the word “individual” as used in Section 62-2-502, both minors and incapacitated persons would be permitted to serve as witnesses to wills. But allowing minors or

incapacitated persons to serve as witnesses to wills jeopardizes the administration of wills because it exposes the will to easily avoidable legal challenges. It is not much to require witnesses to wills be competent and of the age of majority. The preceding section of the Code, Section 62-2-501, prohibits both minors and incapacitated persons from making wills. This provides a strong indication that the General Assembly did not intend to allow them to serve as witnesses to wills.

In addition to the fact that Hampton Ellis was a minor at the time he signed Jane's will, he also testified that he had "no clue" what he was signing. R. 83, ll. 2 – 8. Although Hampton Ellis was likely competent to testify in court under the standard articulated by Rule 601 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence, he cannot have been competent as a witness to sign a will when he did not even know that is what he was signing. The circuit court erred in upholding the validity of the will because Hampton Ellis could not serve as a witness.

This Court should reverse the circuit court and remand for Jane's estate to be administered under the rules of intestacy. *See In re Estate of Blankenship v. Grady*, 336 S.C. 103, 518 S.E.2d 615 (Ct. App. 1999) (providing that when a will is void the estate will pass under the rules of intestacy).

B. Hampton Ellis' signature on the will did not comply with the requirements of Section 62-2-502 because he did not witness Jane sign the will, Jane did not acknowledge her signature on the will, and Ellis did not know that he was signing a will.

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