**RECEIVED**

**May 20 2025**

**SC Court of Appeals**

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM LEXINGTON COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Walton J. McLeod, Circuit Court Judge  
Case No. 2020-CP-32-01941

---

Appellate Case No. 2024-001801

---

Joseph R. Dawson, Jr., Appellant

v.

Heather Pounds, Individually, as Agent under Power of Attorney, and as Personal Representative  
of the Estate of Jane Rollins Dawson, Respondent.

---

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

---

Shelby K. Leonardi  
South Carolina Bar # 70570  
Polales Horton & Leonardi LLP  
1502 Blanding Street  
Columbia, SC 29201  
t: 803-988-9708  
c: 803-467-5410  
sleonardi@phl-firm.com

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

## ARGUMENT

1.

The circuit court did not err in finding that the will was validly executed.

### **Relevant Facts**

Hampton Ellis (“Mr. Ellis”) was a witness to the Operative Will. R. pp. 361-65. He was also Jane’s next-door neighbor. R. p. 79, lines 18-19. He testified that he remembered going to Jane’s home to sign documents. R. p. 80, line 24-p. 81, line 1. When presented with the Operative Will during trial, he confirmed that he recognized the document and identified it as the will of Jane Dawson. R. p. 81, lines 14-19. He also confirmed that his signature was on the document and that he recalled signing it. R. p. 82, lines 8-12. Mr. Ellis testified that he could not remember the events exactly but remembered being called over to Jane’s house and being asked to sign the document. R. p. 82, lines 13-26. He recalled Jane and two other people he did not know being present at Jane’s house. R. p. 82, lines 17-20. He stated that the people present at Jane’s house gave him “a brief rundown of what [the document] was” and asked if he would sign it. R. p. 82, line 23-p. 83, line 1.

Although Mr. Ellis had just testified that he was given a “brief rundown” of the document, he next testified that he had “no clue” what he was signing, that he did not see Jane sign the document, that Jane did not acknowledge her signature to him, and that he did not remember if Jane spoke to him. R. p. 83, lines 2-10. However, he estimated that he was at Jane’s house for “[p]robably 10 to 15 minutes.” R. p. 83, lines 11-12. When asked whether the will he was shown was a complete copy that had not changed since he signed it in July 2019, he responded “yes.” R. p. 83, lines 13-16. When Mr. Dawson’s counsel asked how Mr. Ellis knew that it was a complete copy given that he had not signed any pages except the last, Mr. Ellis responded that the signature

page was “the only page [he] really saw.” R. p. 83, lines 17-20. Mr. Dawson’s counsel then followed up with, “So you wouldn’t have seen pages 1 through 4?” to which Mr. Ellis responded that he did not read those pages on that day. R. p. 83, lines 22-23. The Operative Will, however, shows that Mr. Ellis signed both pages 4 and 5 of the document. R. pp. 364-65.

On cross-examination, Mr. Ellis testified that he recalled someone coming out and asking him to come over to Jane’s house, but he did not recall who made the request. R. p. 84, line 10-p. 85, line 2. Despite his earlier testimony regarding Jane being present, he testified that he did not remember if Jane was present. R. p. 84, lines 13-16. When asked whether Mrs. Pounds was present, he testified “I don’t remember exactly. I want to say she was, but I don’t remember. I don’t remember what happened that day very well at all because I didn’t know what was going on, to be honest.” R. p. 85, lines 5-9.

On June 10, 2024, in its final order following the bench trial held in April 2024, the circuit court upheld the validity of the Operative Will. R. pp. 4-5. In so holding, the circuit court noted that “Mr. Ellis testified he was given a brief synopsis of the paperwork and then asked to sign.” R. p. 4. The circuit court acknowledged that Mr. Ellis testified he did not witness Jane sign the paperwork and noted that Mr. Ellis “could not recall whether [Jane] expressly indicated she had signed the paperwork.” R. p. 5. In holding that the Operative Will was valid, the circuit court relied on (1) the inability of Mr. Ellis being able to remember the details of the execution of the Operative Will as insufficient to invalidate the Operative Will and (2) proper notarization of the Operative Will establishing the presumption of its validity. R. p. 5. The circuit court indicated that Mr. Ellis “did not testify that [Jane] failed to acknowledge her signature of the will, but instead stated he could not recall.” R. p. 5.

In his motion for reconsideration filed June 20, 2024, Mr. Dawson argued that the circuit court incorrectly recollected Mr. Ellis’s testimony regarding acknowledgement of the Operative Will. R. p. 55. Mr. Dawson argued that Mr. Ellis testified that he did not witness Jane sign the Operative Will and that her signature was not acknowledged to him. R. p. 55. Counsel for Mr. Dawson indicated that he had ordered the transcript of Mr. Ellis’s testimony and would further amend or modify the motion to reconsider as necessary upon receipt of the transcript. R. p. 55, n.1.

On July 23, 2024, Mrs. Pounds filed her response to the motion for reconsideration along with a motion for expedited ruling. Mrs. Pounds argued that Mr. Ellis was competent to serve as a witness despite being a minor, that the Operative Will was executed in compliance with statutory requirements, and that, even if Mr. Ellis were not a competent witness, the notary who signed the Operative Will could serve as the second witness. R. pp. 66-67. In her motion for expedited ruling, Mrs. Pounds argued that in light of the validity of the Operative Will even without Mr. Ellis’ signature, the circuit court could rule on the motion for reconsideration without waiting for the transcript. R. pp. 60-61.

Mr. Dawson did not respond to the motion for expedited ruling or file a reply in support of his motion for reconsideration. There is no indication other than a footnote in the motion for reconsideration that his counsel ever requested the trial transcript. Nevertheless, the circuit court waited to issue its order denying the motion for reconsideration until September 23, 2024, noting the lack of any response by Mr. Dawson to the July 23<sup>rd</sup> filings. R. p. 12.

## **Discussion**

Under South Carolina law, a valid will “shall be: (1) in writing; (2) signed by the testator . . . ; and (3) signed by at least two individuals each of whom witnessed either the signing or the testator’s acknowledgment of the signature or of the will.” S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-502. Mr.

Dawson does not dispute that the Operative Will was in writing and signed by Jane. Rather, Mr. Dawson's argument regarding execution rests solely on the third statutory requirement that a will must be signed by at least two individuals who have either witnessed the signing or before whom the testator has acknowledged the signature or the will itself. For the reasons set forth below, the circuit court's holding that the Operative Will was valid is supported by the evidence.

**A. Mr. Ellis was competent to be a witness to the Operative Will.**

Mr. Dawson argues that Mr. Ellis was not competent to witness the Operative Will because (1) he was a minor and (2) he did not know what he was signing.

First, although Mr. Ellis was fifteen years old at the time he signed the Operative Will, his age did not render him incompetent to serve as a witness. While there is no South Carolina law directly addressing the question of whether a minor can serve as witness to a will under the Probate Code, Section 62-2-502(3) does not require witnesses to be a particular age. Rather, the language used in the statute – “signed by at least two *individuals*” – is broad enough to permit witnesses to be minors. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-502(3) (emphasis added). Mr. Dawson's reliance on the Probate Code's prohibition on minors making wills does not reasonably lead to the conclusion that Mr. Ellis did not have the capacity to serve as a witness to Operative Will. Rather, the legislature included language prohibiting minors from making wills but did not include that same language regarding witnesses. The plain language of the statute, therefore, leads to the conclusion that the capacity required to execute a will is different from the capacity required to witness a will. In light of the statutory language, Rule 601 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence should be used to determine Mr. Ellis's competency. Under that Rule, “children are presumed to be competent unless it is shown otherwise.” Rule 601, S.C.R.E. cmt. The record in this case contains no evidence that Mr. Ellis lacked competency to serve as a witness.

Pre-Probate Code case law further supports the contention that a minor may serve as a witness to a will. In *Stevens v. Royals*, the Supreme Court of South Carolina rejected handwritten changes to a will because they were made before the last witness, who was a minor around 13 or 14, signed the will. *Stevens v. Royalls*, 223 S.C. 510, 513-14, 77 S.E.2d 198, 200 (1953). The South Carolina Supreme Court held that because there was only one witness to these changes, they were invalid due to codicil formalities not being followed. *Id.* at 14–17. The Court considered the minor to be a witness and focused on the fact that there was only one witness when the codicil formalities required three. *Id.*

Persuasive authority likewise supports the idea that minors are permitted to serve as attesting witnesses to wills. The Restatement (Third) of Property provides:

A minor is not usually disqualified from serving as an attesting witness to a will, although a few states specifically provide by statute a minimum age, such as 18, for attesting witnesses. More commonly, however, no age is specified in the statute. If no age is specified in the statute, a minor is a valid witness, unless the minor was not old enough to observe, remember, and relate the facts occurring at the execution ceremony.

*See* Restatement (Third) of Property § 8.2 cmt. h. Based on the foregoing, Mr. Ellis’s age did not render him incompetent to serve as a witness.

Mr. Dawson’s second argument – that Mr. Ellis was not competent because he did not know what he was signing – is likewise unavailing. Mr. Ellis’s trial testimony is contradictory. When shown the Operative Will at trial, Mr. Ellis testified that he recognized the document. R. p. 81, lines 16-19. He further testified that upon arriving at Jane’s house, the people present there gave him “a brief rundown of what [the document] was” and asked if he would sign it. R. p. 82, line 23- p. 83, line 1. This testimony directly contradicts his testimony that he had “no clue” what he was signing. R. p. 83, lines 1-8. Where, as here, a case is tried without a jury, “questions regarding the credibility and the weight of evidence are exclusively for the trial judge.” *See In re Estate of*

*Anderson*, 381 S.C. 568, 573, 674 S.E.2d 176, 179 (Ct. App. 2009) (quoting *Golini v. Bolton*, 326 S.C. 333, 342, 482 S.E.2d 784, 789 (Ct. App. 1997)). The circuit court judge, who was in the best position to assess Mr. Ellis’s credibility, determined that Mr. Ellis was sufficiently apprised of the contents of the document to serve as a competent witness. This holding should not be disturbed on appeal.

**B. Mr. Ellis’s inconsistent testimony and the circuit court’s credibility determination were sufficient to support a finding that Mr. Ellis’ signature complied with the requirements of S.C. Code Section 62-2-502.**

Mr. Dawson next argues that Mr. Ellis was not an acceptable witness under Section 62-2-502 because he did not witness “either the signing or the testator’s acknowledgment of the signature or of the will.” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-502(3). The Operative Will in this case was self-proved, however, and Mr. Dawson has failed to rebut the presumption of due execution.

“A self-proved will incorporates an affidavit signed by the testator, the witnesses, and a notary into the will, declaring due execution of the will, testator's testamentary capacity, and that there was no undue influence upon the testator.” *Smith v. Lawton*, 435 S.C. 179, 188, 865 S.E.2d 782, 786 (Ct. App. 2021) (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-503). “A self-proved will does not require the production of evidence as to the due execution of the will.” *Id.* (citing S.C. Code Ann. §§ 62-3-405 to -406).

Here, the Operative Will was self-proving because the last page of the Will contains the statutory language required for self-proof. *See* R. p. 365; *see also* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-503. While rebuttal of self-proof is contemplated by Section 62-3-406(1), Mr. Dawson has not rebutted the self-proving nature of the Operative Will. His argument to rebut the presumption relies on the same facts as the argument that Mr. Ellis was not competent because he did not know what he was signing and likewise ignores the contradictions present in Mr. Ellis’s testimony. While it is true

that Mr. Ellis testified that he did not see Jane sign the document, that she did not acknowledge her signature, and that he had “no clue” what he was signing, this testimony was on direct examination by Mr. Dawson’s counsel and contradicted other testimony regarding the same issues. For example, Mr. Ellis testified that he was given a “brief rundown of what [the document] was” and *did not remember* Jane saying anything to him or speaking to him. R. p. 82, line 24-p. 83, line 10. He also testified that he was at the house for “probably 10 to 15 minutes,” R. p. 83, lines 11-12, which would have been a long time to have had “no idea” what he was signing. Further, he contradicted himself by first saying he recalled Jane and two other people he did not know being present at Jane’s house and later saying that he did not remember if Jane was present. R. p. 82, lines 17-20; R. p. 84, lines 13-16.

Additionally, Mr. Ellis’s testimony that “the only page [he] really saw of the document was the signature page” and he “wouldn’t have seen pages 1 through 4,” R. p. 83, lines 19-23, is contradicted by the fact that he signed pages four and five of the Operative Will. *See* R. pp. 364-65. Page four of the Operative Will, signed by Mr. Ellis, uses the term “will” seven times. R. p. 364. Page five of the Operative Will, signed by Mr. Ellis, uses the term “will” four times. R. p. 365. Taken together, these facts and Mr. Ellis’s contradictory testimony support the circuit court’s credibility determination and conclusion that Mr. Ellis’s “inability to expressly recall the details of the signing of the July 2019 Will, when it occurred approximately five years ago, is alone not enough to invalidate the will.” R. p. 5.

Furthermore, South Carolina law provides that a will is valid so long as the witness observes “the testator’s acknowledgment of the signature *or of the will.*” *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 62-2-502(3) (emphasis added). Thus, Mr. Dawson’s focus on whether Jane acknowledged her signature to Mr. Ellis is misplaced. So long as Mr. Ellis understood from Jane that the document

he signed on July 14, 2019, was her will and she acknowledged the will as her own, the will was executed in accordance with the statutory requirements. Mr. Dawson has not presented sufficient and reliable evidence that Mr. Ellis did not understand what he was signing to rebut the presumption of due execution or to demonstrate a legal error by the circuit court.

**C. Even if Mr. Ellis' signature is found to be invalid, the signature of the notary is sufficient for her to serve as the second witness to the Operative Will.**

Even if Mr. Ellis were deemed to be either an incompetent witness or a witness who did not comply with the requirements of Section 62-2-502, the Operative Will is still valid under South Carolina law because it was signed by another witness and the notary. As Mr. Dawson recognizes, the Probate Code allows a person who signs as a witness to a will to also serve as a notary. *See* Final Br. of Appellant at 15.<sup>1</sup> In the present case, Plaintiff has not alleged any deficiency in the signatures of either the notary or the other witness on the Operative Will. Thus, the Operative Will meets South Carolina's execution requirements even without the signature of Mr. Ellis.

Additionally, even in the absence of Mr. Ellis' signature, the Operative Will is self-proving. Pursuant to Section 62-2-503, a will is self-proved "upon the acknowledgement by the testator and the affidavit of at least one witness, each made before an officer authorized to administer oaths under the laws of the state where execution occurs." In other words, a will is self-proved through an instrument signed by the decedent, *one witness*, and a notary. The plain language of the statute makes clear that only one witness is required for a will to be self-proved. Thus, the remaining witness and notary on the "Affidavit" page of the Operative Will are sufficient to render it self-proving. As discussed above, Mr. Dawson has not rebutted the self-proving nature of the Operative

---

<sup>1</sup> There is no case law directly addressing this issue other than the unpublished opinion of *In Re Estate of Reagan*, No. 2015-UP-354, 2015 WL 4275465 (S.C. Ct. App. July 15, 2015) (holding that a notary may be considered the second witness required by Section 62-2-502(3) even when the notary did not intend to be an attesting witness).

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